# THRIVES: Prevention of Violence Against Children

# Quantum Units Education

Affordable. Dependable. Accredited.

www.quantumunitsed.com

# **Table of Contents**

| Overview of THRIVES  | 4  |
|--|----|
| THRIVES  | 6  |
| Training in Parenting  | 7  |
| Household Economic Strengthening                                       | 9  |
| Reduced Violence through Legal Protection                              | 11 |
| Improved Services  | 13 |
| Values and Norms that Protect Children                                 | 15 |
| Education and Life Skills  | 17 |
| Surveillance and Evaluation  | 19 |
| Conclusion   | 20 |
| References   | 21 |
| Appendix   | 30 |
| THRIVES: Examples of Interventions to Reduce Violence Against Children | 30 |

### **Overview of THRIVES**

**Violence against children is highly prevalent.** More than 1 billion children—half of all children in the world—are exposed to violence every year (U.S. Government Action Plan on Children in Adversity 2014). The violence children are exposed to includes physical, sexual, and emotional forms of abuse (Bott 2012, Lansford 2012). It also includes physical, medical, and emotional neglect by caregivers as well as witnessing violence between adults, often their own parents, as well as peers (Krug 2002). These forms of violence occur in homes, schools, and streets, with contexts ranging from war to gangs to dating to child-raising (Krug 2002, Lozano 2012, Mercy 2015). What these forms of violence share is their potential for life-long health and social consequences for children (Felitti 1998, Anda 2010). By extension, these childhood exposures also impact the very foundation of human capital that underlies the social and economic development of communities and nations.

Evidence from national surveys shows that violence against children is surprisingly common (UNICEF 2010). For example, data from the U.S. found that 48% of children were exposed to some form of violence in 2011 alone (Finkelhor 2013). Similarly, in findings from 24 developing countries, 63% of caregivers reported that household members used physical violence to punish their child in the last month, including spanking, hitting, or slapping with a hand or an object (Lansford 2012). In a meta-analysis of child sexual abuse, results showed that globally, 18% of girls and 8% of boys are exposed to such violence (Stoltenborgh 2011).

Violence against children, however, is often hidden from the attention of governments and society. Its hidden nature is well-documented: a meta-analysis of global data finds self-reported child sexual abuse 30 times higher and physical abuse 75 times higher than official reports (Stoltenborgh 2011, Stoltenborgh 2013). In many countries, prevalence estimates of violence against children come from administrative data used by health or justice systems rather than from national survey data and, therefore, the true magnitude of the problem is vastly underestimated.

Due to the hidden nature of violence against children, global data finds self-reported child sexual abuse **30 times higher** and physical abuse **75 times higher** than official reports.

(Stoltenborgh 2011, Stoltenborgh 2013).

**The public health consequences of violence are pervasive, enduring, and costly.** Though violence against children is often hidden, its consequences eventually surface (Anda 2010). Strong evidence confirms that childhood violence increases the risks of injury, HIV, mental health problems, delayed cognitive development, reproductive health problems, involvement in sex trafficking, and non-communicable diseases (NCDs). NCDs can cause damage to the nervous, endocrine, circulatory, musculo-skeletal, reproductive, respiratory, and immune systems. In fact, exposure to childhood violence leads to graded increases in the four NCDs—cardiovascular disease, cancer, chronic lung disease, and diabetes—that accounted for 60% of the 53 million deaths globally in 2010 (Anderson 2008, Baral 2012, Benjet 2010, Devries 2011, Dietz 1999, Dube 2001, Fisher 2012, Garcia-Moreno 2013, Hillis 2000, Hillis 2004, Jewkes 2010, Kessler 2010, Lozano 2012, Machtinger 2012a, Machtinger 2012b, Mbagaya 2013, Norton 2013, Reza 2009, Silverman 2009, Tharp 2012, Williamson 2002). Given the high prevalence of violence against children and its vast consequences, the associated economic impact is substantial (Patel 2012). In the United States, for example, the total lifetime economic burden associated with child maltreatment—only one type of violence against children—was \$124 billion in 2008 (Fang 2012).



**Violence is preventable.** Much progress has been made in understanding how to prevent violence (Liverpool Johns Moores University 2013, Rosenberg 2006, WHO 2014, UNICEF 2014). It has become clear, for example, that the various forms of violence are inter-related, as they share many risk and protective factors, consequences, and effective approaches to prevention. Safe, stable, and nurturing relationships and environments are essential to reduce the various types of violence and to enable children to reach their full potential (Fluke 2012). By promoting relationships and environments that help children grow up to be healthy and productive citizens, they in turn can build stronger and safer families and communities for their children (CDC 2014).

There is strong reason to believe the rapidly expanding evidence on violence prevention combined with an increasing capacity countries have to implement and scale up effective prevention programs and practices can reduce violence towards children across the world (CARE 2012). Violence can be prevented if governments, their citizens, and the global community start now, act wisely, and work together (Leadership Council of the Sustainable Development Solutions Network 2013, Mercy 2015, WHO 2008).

### THRIVES

**THRIVES** represents a select group of complementary strategies that reflect the best available evidence to help countries sharpen their focus on priorities with the greatest potential to reduce violence against children. This group of strategies contains evidence-based interventions that are classified as *effective or promising*, and it also includes *prudent practice*. To be classified as *effective*, the program models had to meet at least one of these criteria: a) at least two high- or moderate-quality impact studies using randomized trial and/or quasi-experimental designs find favorable, statistically significant impacts in one or more violence against children domains (maltreatment, bullying, partner violence, witnessing intimate partner violence), or b) determined as "recommended" based on the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force review of evidence for reducing violence. To be classified as *promising*, the program models had to meet at least one of these criteria: a) at least one high- or moderate-quality impact study using a randomized to meet at least one high- or moderate on the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force review of evidence for reducing violence. To be classified as *promising*, the program models had to meet at least one of these criteria: a) at least one high- or moderate-quality impact study using a randomized to meet at least one of these criteria: a) at least one high- or moderate-quality impact study using a randomized to meet at least one of these criteria: a) at least one high- or moderate-quality impact study using a randomized to meet at least one of these criteria: a) at least one high- or moderate-quality impact study using a randomized

trial and/or guasi-experimental design finds favorable, statistically significant impacts in one or more violence against children domains (maltreatment, bullying, partner violence, witnessing intimate partner violence), or b) at least one high- or moderate-quality impact study using randomized trial and/or a guasiexperimental designs finds favorable, statistically significant impacts in one or more risk or protective factors for prevention of violence against children (such as educational attainment, skills in positive parenting, communication between parents and children about effective strategies for avoiding exposure to violence, increased parental supervision). Finally, to be classified as *prudent practice*, the component of the technical package had to meet at least one of these criteria: a) determined by global treaties or resolutions to be critical for reducing violence against children, or b) demonstrated by gualitative or observational studies as effective in reducing violence against children. It is important to note that although **THRIVES** identifies core components of a technical package to prevent violence against children, not every program that uses a specific component can be classified as effective.

### What is THRIVES?

**THRIVES** represents a select group of complementary strategies that reflect the best available evidence to help countries sharpen their focus on priorities with the greatest potential to reduce violence against children.

These strategies include:

- **T** Training in parenting
- H Household economic strengthening
- **R** Reduced violence through legal protection
- I Improved services
- V Values and norms that protect children
- E Education and life skills
- S Surveillance and evaluation

These strategies, which span health, social services, education, and justice sectors, include: Training in parenting; Household economic strengthening; Reduced violence through legal protection; Improved services; Values and norms that protect children; Education and life skills; and Surveillance and evaluation. The last component of THRIVES, which is a monitoring and evaluation component, is critical to informing future directions in the prevention of violence against children. Though the evidence upon which these strategies are based is largely from high-income countries, supporting evidence from low-and middle income countries is expanding rapidly.

# Training in Parenting



#### What:

Interventions to support nurturing relationships between parents and children in order to prevent violence.

#### Why:

These interventions are shown to prevent violence towards children and prevent children from becoming violent.

#### How:

Home visitation programs, parenting training as a part of comprehensive programs, and parenting training in small community groups.

#### **Rationale:**

Interventions that support the development of safe, stable, and nurturing relationships between parents or caregivers and their children are a key evidence-based strategy for violence prevention for two reasons (Bilukha 2005, Kaminski 2008). First, they can prevent violence towards children and, second, they may also prevent the early development of violent behavior in children (Caldera 2007, Olds 1997, Olds 2010). Emerging evidence suggests that by stemming the early development of violent behavior, such relationships can also reduce many types of violence occurring in adolescence and early adulthood, such as youth violence, dating violence, sexual violence, and self-directed violence (Mikton 2009).

#### **Interventions:**

Parenting interventions can vary by type of violence they are designed to prevent, developmental stage of the child, or delivery modality. Here we classify programs with greatest potential for impact by their delivery modality.

- Home visitation programs. In these programs, trained personnel provide information, training, and support about child health, development, and care. Such programs engage caregivers to build their knowledge and skills in one or more of the following: prenatal and infant care, preventing abuse and neglect (nonviolent discipline), developmental interactions with children, family planning, life skills, economic self-sufficiency, and linkages to services (Bilukha 2005, Duggan 2004, DuMont 2008, Eckenrode 2000, Fergusson 2006, Lowell 2011, Olds 2010). Home visits occur during the first 2 years of life, but may begin prenatally and continue later (Bilukha 2005, Kaminski 2008). Such programs may be delivered universally and without regard to risk, or they may be focused specifically on high-risk parents.
- Parenting training as part of comprehensive programs. Parenting training may be integrated into comprehensive programs which typically include engagement of school curriculum and school environment (Beets 2009). Some comprehensive programs focus on child well-being through development of social-emotional skills and character; common components in these include teaching parents to build self-concept, positive physical and intellectual actions, responsible social/emotional choices, honesty, pro-social skills, and goal-setting skills in their children (Beets 2009, Washburn 2011). Other comprehensive programs focus on preventing violence by peers or romantic partners, and include training parents in variable combinations of the following: building skills in conflict resolution, recognition and prevention of violence, effective communication about violence, support for victims, as well as monitoring children's behavior (Kärnä 2011, Salmivalli 2012).

• Parenting training delivered in small groups in community settings to reduce violence. Behavioral interventions delivered in small parent groups in community settings build caregivers' capacity to help protect children from violence (Kaminski 2008, Knerr 2013). The programs serve parents of children from young ages up to pre-teens by building capacity in anger management, social problem-solving, nonviolent discipline, and media safety (Knox 2014). Group parenting programs which focus on protecting children from partner violence have been widely adapted with fidelity in many low and middle income countries (LMIC) and focus on supervision, and on building knowledge, skills, and confidence in effective communication about sexual values and risk reduction (Foshee 2012, Vanderhoudt 2010).

#### **Potential Outcomes:**

The relevant outcomes that training in parenting may impact include:

- Reductions in substantiated child maltreatment and in referrals to Child Protective Services
- Reductions in abusive parenting, negative or harsh parenting, especially as it relates to discipline
- Reductions in bullying and being bullied
- Reductions in physical, emotional, or sexual violence victimization by partners or peers
- Reductions in aggression and delinquency during adolescence
- Increases in positive parent-child interactions
- Increases in parental monitoring of child and youth safety

#### **Evidence:**

CDC review of these interventions finds evidence to support them as being effective in reducing violence against children. This evidence for the effectiveness of parenting interventions is well established in high-income countries and evidence is increasing for their applicability across other countries and cultures.

- Home visitation programs reduce maltreatment among infants and toddlers. Evidence for effectiveness of home visitation programs, such as *Nurse Family Partnership* and many others, is strong according to the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force, with an overall median of a 39% reduction in maltreatment in a systematic review of over 20 studies conducted in the U.S. (Bilukha 2005). Findings from the *Philani Plus* home visiting program in South Africa, which uses mentor mothers who are community health workers to train parents, are promising, as reports show significant improvements in child well-being, as measured by cognitive development, among participants; of note, as the number of home visits increases, scores on cognitive development measures also increase (Rotheram-Borus 2011, Rotheram-Borus 2014).
- Parenting training as part of comprehensive programs to reduce violence. Comprehensive programs which include a parenting component, may focus broadly on building positive social-emotional skills (like *Positive Action*), or they may aim specifically to prevent violence by peers or partners (such as *KiVa* and *Families for Safe Dates*). These programs were associated with significant reductions in important outcomes, as from a 20% up to a 60% reduction in violent behaviors, a 20% reduction in bullying, and a 70% reduction in physical dating abuse victimization (Beets 2009, Washburn 2011, Kärnä 2011, Salmivalli 2012).
- **Parenting training delivered in small groups in community settings reduce violence.** Evidence for parenting training in small groups is promising. *ACT Raising Safe Kids* was found to be effective in reducing harsh discipline by up to 50% (Knox 2014). SOS!, a program delivered by primary care providers in health centers at routine immunization visits, significantly reduced abusive or neglectful parenting (Knerr 2013). In addition, *Families Matter!* is a promising practice, showing increases in effective communication between parents and their children about sexuality and safety in romantic partnerships (Vandenhoudt 2010).

# Household Economic Strengthening



#### What:

Providing economic resources to families in order to decrease child maltreatment.

#### Why:

Children will benefit by experiencing decreased intimate partner violence and, thereby, reducing the likelihood that children witness violence and suffer the consequences of such exposures, which include the potential that children themselves become victims or perpetrators of violence.

#### How:

Cash transfers, group savings and loans combined with gender norm/ equity training, and micro-finance combined with gender norm/equity training.

#### **Rationale:**

Strengthening the economic conditions of households with children is an important step in preventing violence against children. Strong empirical evidence links household economic circumstances to a variety of outcomes, including health and safety, education, and peer and family relationships, all important for child well-being (Akwara 2010, Campbell 2010). It is also true that various economic indicators have a strong correlation with violence against children (Anthony 2011, Sampson 1994). Economic strengthening interventions can benefit children by decreasing intimate partner violence and, thereby, reducing the likelihood that children witness violence and suffer the consequences of such exposures, which include the potential that children themselves become victims or perpetrators of violence (Child Protection in Crisis 2011, Vyas 2009). In addition, increasing women's access to economic resources strengthens a household's economic status in ways that can prevent the abuse and neglect of children (Child Protection in Crisis 2011). For example, it enables women to increase investments in their children's education, thereby improving school attendance, which is a protective factor for violence against children (Pronyk 2007, Vyas 2009).

#### Interventions:

The many types of economic strengthening programs share a focus on positively influencing the socioeconomic status of households or individuals. Many of these programs include goals for children's protection and well-being. Types of programs that appear to have particular potential benefit for addressing children include those that integrate microfinance with gender norms and/or equity training, those that combine group savings and loans associations with gender norm and/or equity training, and cash transfer programs for vulnerable households, either with or without conditions.

- **Cash transfers with or without conditions.** Cash transfers provide a regular income (typically monthly or quarterly) to reduce economic vulnerability within the household. Some programs provide cash dependent on certain conditions (e.g., child gets regular check-ups, child attends school regularly, and parent attends parenting or job training) (Cancian 2013, Eldred 1998, Huston 2003).
- **Group savings and loans associations combined with gender norm/equity training**. These savings and loan associations provide a group of women a safe and convenient place to save money together and access small loans in places that lack formal financial institutions (Gupta 2013).

• **Microfinance combined with gender norm/equity training**. Microfinance is a development method that provides loans to poor households for income generation, and to be effective, should be combined with gender norms/equity training (Jan 2011, Pronyk 2007, Pronyk 2008).

#### **Potential Outcomes:**

The relevant outcomes that household economic strengthening may impact include:

- Reductions in intimate partner violence
- Reductions in child witnessing intimate partner violence in the home
- Reductions in physical violence towards children by parent or other caregivers
- Increases in social norms and attitudes that disapprove of intimate partner violence
- Increases in school attendance
- Increases in household economic status

#### **Evidence:**

CDC review of these interventions finds that the evidence is promising for reducing violence against children. According to PEPFAR Guidance for Orphans and Vulnerable Children (OVC) Programming, the preponderance of evidence justifies prioritization of household economic strengthening approaches such as cash transfers, group savings, and microfinance (The U.S. President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief 2012).

- Cash transfers with or without conditions. Cash transfers have been shown to improve parental monitoring, reduce child maltreatment by 10%, reduce aggressive symptoms in children by 10%, and to increase pro-social behavior among adolescent boys particularly (Cancian 2013, Huston 2003, Ozer 2009). Three randomized trials that combined cash transfers with other supports such as health insurance and child care subsidies or child care, along with help getting a General Educational Development (GED) high school degree, a job, or job training showed improvements in positive parenting (Cancian 2013, Eldred 1998, Huston 2003).
- Group savings and loans associations combined with gender norm/equity training. In a pilot randomized trial, a group savings and loans program alongside gender dialogue groups, when compared to group savings only, reduced past year physical intimate partner violence (IPV) by over 50% among women who participated with their male partners in more than 75% of the intervention sessions in the program (Gupta 2013).
- **Microfinance combined with gender norm/equity training**. Experimental evaluations showed that a microfinance program combined with education on gender norms, known as *IMAGE (Intervention with Microfinance for Aids and Gender Equity)*, reduced physical and/or sexual violence exposures by 50% among women participating in the intervention compared to a control group (Jan 2011, Pronyk 2007, Pronyk 2008).

# Reduced Violence through Legal Protections



#### What:

Developing and enforcing laws that prevent violent behaviors.

#### Why:

Passing and enforcing comprehensive laws pertaining to violence prevention will help shift prevailing norms about violence, deter violent behavior, and keep perpetrators from continuing violent behaviors while incarcerated.

#### How:

Laws banning the violent punishment of children by parents, teachers, and other caregivers; laws pertaining to alcohol that regulates hours of sale, price, and number of outlets; laws prohibiting the sexual abuse and exploitation of children; legal protections establishing equal rights for females and males.

#### **Rationale:**

Developing and strengthening legal protections and policies for children in conjunction with the means to enforce these protections is a prudent step in preventing violence against children. Laws that prohibit violent behavior are useful in several ways (Pinheiro 2006). First, they represent a societal statement that violent behaviors are wrong and, therefore, can help shift prevailing norms that tolerate violence towards ones that do not. Second, the threat of penalties or incarceration may deter potential perpetrators from some acts of violence (Stier 2007). And third, incarceration will deprive perpetrators of the opportunity to inflict further violence while incarcerated (Stier 2007). Laws can also be useful in reducing exposure to key risk factors for violence, such as alcohol abuse (Bellis 2008, Dinh-Zarr 2004).

#### Interventions:

There are four key areas where legal protections could be particularly helpful:

- Laws banning the violent punishment of children by parents, teachers, and other caregivers. The persisting legality and widespread social approval of violent punishment, commonly denoted 'corporal punishment,' of children reduces the potential benefit of efforts to improve developmental outcomes for children; such laws are important because violent punishment, in which pain is intentionally inflicted for the purpose of retribution for an offense, is one of the most common forms of violence in children's lives (Bussman 2011, Lansford 2012, Osterman 2014, Roberts 2000, Sariola 2012, UNICEF 2010). Although the *Global Status Report on Violence Prevention* found that laws relating to bans on corporal punishment were reported to exist in 76% of countries, only 30% of countries indicated enforcement of such laws (WHO 2014).
- Laws pertaining to alcohol that regulate hours of sale, price, and number of outlets. Alcohol use is an established risk factor for violence and is common in most parts of the world (Cohen 2007, Duailibi 2007, Grossman 2001). Laws regulating availability and accessibility are important facets of prevention.

- Laws prohibiting the sexual abuse and exploitation of children. Although most countries have laws prohibiting sexual abuse in place, their strength varies by country based on the legal definition of who is a child and what constitutes child sexual abuse, as well as the extent to which they are enforced. For example, though virtually all countries (99%) have laws prohibiting statutory rape, such laws are enforced in less than two-thirds of countries. Enforcement is even less common for laws against contact sexual violence without rape and non-contact sexual violence (WHO 2014).
- Legal protections establishing equal rights for females and males. UN Women regards gender equality as a basic human right, and 139 countries and territories constitutionally guarantee equality between men and women. Such constitutional guarantees can be used to amend laws that discriminate against women and girls and to increase legal protections for equal access to education, inheritance rights, and protection from harmful traditional practices (Turquet 2011, WHO 2014).

#### **Potential Outcomes:**

The relevant outcomes that legal protections may impact include:

- Reductions in physical violence towards children by parent, other caregivers, and authority figures
- Reductions in sexual abuse of children, including forced or pressured sex, unwanted attempted sex, and unwanted sexual touching
- Reductions in sexual exploitation of children including trafficking, pornography, and prostitution
- Increases in social norms and attitudes that protect against the use of violent punishment against children
- Increases in social norms and attitudes that protect against the sexual abuse and exploitation of children
- Reductions in excessive alcohol consumption and binge drinking
- Increases in social norms and attitudes that support gender equality

#### **Evidence:**

CDC review of these interventions classifies them as prudent practice for reducing violence against children.

- Laws banning the violent punishment of children by parents, teacher, and other caregivers. Evidence suggests that these laws impact use of severe corporal punishment against children, understanding of what constitutes violent punishment, and attitudes towards the use of such punishment (Osterman 2014, Roberts 2000, Sariola 2012). Findings from a multi-country study report that nearly all forms of corporal punishment were used less commonly in countries with legal bans than in those without such bans (Bussmann 2011).
- Laws that regulate the hours during which alcohol can be sold, number of alcohol outlets, and the price of alcohol. Reduced sales hours have been associated with reduced violence, and higher outlet densities have been associated with higher levels of violence (Bellis 2008, Duailibi 2007). Empirical evidence has shown that higher prices for alcohol can decrease consumption and reduce alcohol-attributable mortality (Bellis 2008, Task Force on Community Preventive Services, 2010).
- Laws prohibiting the sexual abuse and exploitation of children. Evidence is needed for the impact of the passing and enforcement of these laws (WHO 2014).
- Legal protections establishing equal rights for females and males. Though more evidence is needed for the impact of legal constitutional protections for equal rights for females and males, countries such as Colombia, India, South Africa, and Uganda have used such constitutional authority to amend laws that discriminate against women and girls (Turquet 2011).

### mproved Services for Victims and Perpetrators



#### What:

Providing counseling, support groups, housing and other services for victims of violence.

#### Why:

Counseling and support services have been shown to decrease the short-term recurrence of violence among survivors; and mitigate the negative mental health consequences of violence against children.

#### How:

Counseling/therapeutic approaches; intimate partner violence (IPV) screening in clinical settings combined with interventions; support groups; shelters or other forms of emergency housing; advocacy and case management.

#### **Rationale:**

Providing services to victims and perpetrators of violence against children is an essential approach to potentially preventing the future recurrence of victimization and/or perpetration and to mitigating the short and long-term consequences of violence (Task Force on Community Preventive Services 2008, Wethington 2008). Strong empirical evidence for these two main benefits of services has been demonstrated: decreases in the short-term recurrence of violence among survivors; and mitigation of the negative mental health consequences of violence against children and youth, such as trauma symptoms (Sullivan 2012a, Sullivan 2012b, Sullivan 2012c, Wethington 2008). In addition, because experiencing violence early in life is associated with increased risk for victimization or perpetration later in life, it is possible that providing services for children who are victims may prevent involvement in violence later in the life cycle, i.e., a "treatment as prevention" type approach for violence.

#### Interventions:

The various types of services for victims and those at risk for perpetration share a focus on providing various types of support to those individuals, such as tangible support (e.g., a temporary place to live) to promote independence, and emotional/psychological support (e.g., counseling) to promote healing. Effectiveness of these approaches depends on the type of service. The most promising include:

- **Counseling/therapeutic approaches.** Counseling can be delivered in a variety of settings, by both professionals and by trained community health workers. In particular, cognitive behavioral therapy can help survivors of childhood violence build coping skills and change how they think about their experiences with violence. These short-term interventions consist of multiple sessions (Bass 2013, Kornor 2008, Task Force on Community Preventive Services 2008, Wethington 2008).
- IPV screening in clinical settings combined with interventions. Combining screening with interventions can help to actively identify clients who have experienced violence and offer them services, either directly or through referrals (Ramsay 2002, Task Force on Community Preventive Services 2008).
- **Support groups.** These groups provide participants with emotional and practical support and can be led by professionals, lay workers, or peers (Sullivan 2012c).
- Shelters or other forms of emergency housing. For those clients who need a temporary place to live, shelter and/or alternate family support can help them identify ways to return home safely or find other permanent housing options (Chanley 2001, Sullivan 2012b).

• Advocacy/case management. These approaches involve advocates who help survivors obtain community resources, which will vary according to the age of the survivor (housing, foster family support, employment, legal assistance, transportation, education, vocational training, child care, health care, material goods, and financial assistance) (Sullivan 2012a).

#### **Potential Outcomes:**

The relevant outcomes that various types of services may impact include:

- Reductions in recurrence of the same type of violence in the short term
- Reductions in trauma symptoms (e.g., PTSD, depression, anxiety)
- Increases in ability to live independently (for survivors)
- Reductions in victimization or perpetration of violence later in life (e.g., reducing likelihood that male survivors of child abuse will perpetrate intimate partner violence when they are older)

#### **Evidence:**

CDC review of clinical services finds evidence to support some services as effective and others as promising for reducing the health and social consequences of violence against children.

- **Counseling/therapeutic approaches.** Both individual and group *trauma-informed cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT)* are considered effective, having large effects on trauma symptoms and functional impairment; such reductions are up to 37% for individual and 56% for group CBT in symptoms among the intervention versus the comparison groups (Task Force on Community Preventive Services 2008, Wethington 2008). One group of investigators finds it is feasible to deliver trauma focused cognitive behavioral therapy (TF-CBT) through trained lay health workers for both vulnerable children, as well as for young women, in low income countries (Bass 2013, Murray 2013).
- IPV screening in clinical settings combined with interventions. Screening can serve as an entry point into other effective interventions. The U.S. Preventive Services Task Force recommends screening be paired with an intervention, and reports that, together, there is a moderate net benefit and thus is considered effective (Moyer 2013). Evidence from randomized trials support various interventions for women of childbearing age, including counseling, home visits, information cards, referrals to community services, and mentoring support. Depending on the type of intervention, these services may be provided by clinicians, nurses, social workers, non-clinician mentors, or community workers. Screening without provision of, or referral to, an intervention is not recommended. In one good-quality randomized trial, screening pregnant women or mothers of young children for IPV and providing behavioral counseling led to a 50% reduction in recurrent episodes of IPV, as well as better birth outcomes (Kiely 2010). Furthermore, interventions such as home visiting programs that aim to reduce both child abuse and IPV, such as the Hawaii Healthy Start Program, appear promising. Evaluations of this program report that home visiting provided by paraprofessionals to high risk mothers was effective in reducing both IPV (by 15%) and child maltreatment (by 40%) (Bair-Merritt 2010, Duggan 2004).
- **Support groups.** Support groups are considered promising, as they have been shown to decrease trauma symptoms and increase psychological well-being (Sullivan 2012c).
- Shelters or other forms of emergency housing. Having emergency housing options available for survivors in life-threatening circumstances is an important post-violence service, for which there is promising evidence of effectiveness in reducing trauma symptoms (Tutty 2006, Chanley 2001). Though these programs are considered essential, they have not been subjected to rigorous evaluation designs. In observational studies, they appear to decrease trauma-related symptoms and feelings of isolation, and increase survivors' feelings of safety and hopefulness (Sullivan 2012b).
- Advocacy/case management. Approaches which provide advocacy for victims, such as the Community Advocacy Project (CAP), have been shown to be promising in decreasing recurrence of physical and emotional violence, and to increase psychological well-being and ability to obtain community resources (Sullivan 2012a).

# Values and Norms that Protect Children



#### What:

Changing social norms that accept or allow indifference to violence.

#### Why:

Individuals and communities following restrictive and harmful social norms are more likely to perpetrate physical, sexual, and emotional violence against partners and children (Promundo 2012).

#### How:

Small group programs; bystander interventions; community mobilization programs; campaigns.

#### **Rationale:**

Changing social norms that accept or allow indifference to violence is necessary to prevent violence against children (Mercy 2015). Norms are group-level beliefs and expectations about how members of the group should behave. The group can be large or small, ranging from the cultural norms of an entire country to those of a small sub-population. Two types of norms are particularly relevant to preventing violence against children – gender norms and norms about parenting disciplinary practices (Mercy 2015). Gender norms define appropriate behaviors for men and women, and girls and boys, in terms of how to relate to one another. Parenting norms include beliefs about how parents should discipline their children (UNICEF 2010). Restrictive gender and parenting norms can sanction violent behavior in intimate and parental relationships. Studies show that individuals and communities following restrictive and harmful social norms are more likely to perpetrate physical, sexual, and emotional violence against partners and children (Promundo 2012).

#### Interventions:

Several types of interventions seek to change individual and community attitudes and beliefs about potentially harmful gender and parenting norms. Although most work in this area has focused on gender norms, parenting norm interventions are increasingly seen as vital to violence prevention.

- **Small group programs**. Small groups programs are multi-session interventions focused on changing men and women's adherence to restrictive and harmful social norms. They are delivered to groups from target populations or from the general population and typically engage community leaders to engage others within their spheres of influence in schools, health centers, community centers, or faith centers to conduct skills-building workshops that address masculinity, leadership, and gender equity (Jewkes 2008, Miller 2012, Skevington 2013, Verma 2008).
- **Bystander interventions.** Bystander interventions empower members of a community to prevent violence by building skills to help when they see behavior that puts others at risk and take appropriate steps to intervene (Banyard 2007, Coker 2014).
- **Community mobilization programs**. Community mobilization interventions train community leaders to mobilize a critical mass of community members to change social norms and behavior via trainings, media messaging, and local advocacy (Pulerwitz 2010, Raising Voices 2013, Watts 2014).

• **Campaigns**. Awareness campaigns deliver education and information to communities in order to change norms and behaviors, typically via advertising or serial television formats (Promundo 2012, Solorzano 2008, Usdin 2005).

#### **Potential Outcomes:**

The relevant outcomes that interventions addressing values and norms may impact include:

- Reductions in acceptability of violence against intimate partners and children
- Increases in favorable beliefs towards gender equity and gender equitable division of labor
- Increases in favorable attitudes towards nonviolent approaches to parental discipline
- Increases in recognition of abusive behavior towards intimate partners and children
- Increases in bystander interventions to prevent violence against intimate partners and children
- Reductions in the perpetration of physical or sexual violence by an intimate partner or parent

#### **Evidence :**

CDC review of interventions regarding potentially harmful gender and parenting norms finds that these interventions are promising for reducing violence against children.

- **Small group programs.** Small group programs, using experimental or quasi-experimental designs delivered to adult men and women and adolescent girls and boys, as described above, report decreases in a number of significant violence prevention outcomes (Dworkin 2012, Jewkes 2008, Paine 2002, Skevington 2013, Verma 2008). Males in India participating in *Yaari-Dosti* were found to have 20-30% decreases in IPV perpetration, and males in rural South Africa participating in *Coaching Boys Into Men* reported 38% fewer incidents of physical or sexual IPV 24 months post-intervention (Miller 2012, Verma 2008). Other significant outcomes include increases in bystander interventions and increases in favorable attitudes towards gender equity.
- **Bystander interventions.** Experimental evaluations showed that programs such as *Bringing in the Bystander* and *Green Dot* empowered young people to intervene and prevent violence against dating partners and acquaintances (Banyard 2007, Coker 2014). Evidence from these programs demonstrated that bystander interventions increased intervention behaviors and increased participants' beliefs that they could intervene to prevent violence. Of note, both male and female students attending a college with a *Green Dot* program reported lower victimization, and males reported lower perpetration rates, compared to colleges without the program.
- **Community mobilization program.** *SASA!* is an example of mobilizing changes in norms though existing organizations, institutions, and groups (such as urban communities, faith communities, refugee camps, and villages), to empower participants to be change agents within their existing community structures. Men and women aged 18-49 who participated in the community-based RCT of *SASA!* experienced 52% less physical violence and expressed decreased social acceptance of violence (Pulerwitz 2010, Raising Voices 2013, Watts 2014).
- **Campaigns.** Gender norm and parental campaign interventions are difficult to evaluate. However, evidence suggests that they can influence attitudes and norms, to decrease the acceptability of violence against intimate partners and children (Promundo 2012). For example, there was a 14% increase in agreement with the statement "I agree no woman ever deserves to be beaten" among participants in the multi-media health intervention *Soul City* in South Africa (Usdin 2005). There was also a 14% increase in participants becoming aware of the national intimate partner violence helpline after the intervention was implemented (Usdin 2005).

# **Education and Life Skills Building**



#### What:

Provide resources to increase primary and secondary school completion and to build life skills.

#### Why:

Gains in education protect victimization and perpetration of violence. Also, schools provide a setting to educate large groups of children about reducing violent behaviors.

#### How:

School enrollment and attendance by means of material support and school-based early education; life skills violence-prevention programs via health programs, dating violence/rape prevention programs and adolescent girls' empowerment.

#### **Rationale:**

Gains in education, as shown by increases in primary and secondary school completion, for girls and boys, as well as implementation of life skills training programs, primarily in school-based settings, are important steps in reducing violence against children (Blueprints for Healthy Youth Development, Durlak 2010). First, gains in education for both girls and boys, as measured by school enrollment and attendance, protect against both victimization and perpetration of certain types of violence, including childhood sexual violence, youth violence, partner violence, and childhood marriage; these advances also protect against the consequences of violence, including HIV, sexually transmitted infections, and unintended pregnancy (Hallfors 2011, Reynolds 2011). Second, schools are important settings for reaching large numbers of children and youth with health-related interventions that build skills in communication, conflict resolution, and emotional regulation, all of which are important for reducing violent behaviors (Hahn 2007).

#### Interventions:

Addressing structural factors that keep youth out of school, such as gender inequity and poverty, as well as providing children with knowledge and skills to support alternatives to violent behavior (e.g., relationship development, problem-solving skills, emotional understanding), are important avenues for preventing violence against children. Programs that show potential include:

#### School enrollment and attendance

- **Material support.** Programs which provide partial or comprehensive support of fees, books, school supplies, uniforms, and school-based helpers can help girls stay in school (Hallfors 2011).
- **School-based early education.** Programs that are school-based can provide comprehensive educational and family support services in an early education, typically preschool setting. Such programs may provide intensive educational and family support services (Reynolds, 2011).

#### Life skills violence prevention programs

 Life skills and health programs. These life skills programs teach emotional regulation, pro-social behaviors (such as cooperation, praise, or support of others), and communication and decisionmaking skills, goal-setting, bullying prevention, and other techniques for avoiding violence (Hahn 2007, Reynolds 2011).

- Dating violence and rape prevention programs. Programs for middle school students focus on helping friends, changing gender stereotypes, improving communication skills, identifying and managing emotions, and preventing sexual assault (Hahn 2007). Programs for older students tend to raise awareness of and some succeed in changing tolerant attitudes about date rape (Fellmeth 2013, Foshee 2005, Holcomb 2002, Pinzone-Glover 2006, Wolfe 2009, Yom 2005).
- Adolescent girls' empowerment. Programs that build girls' empowerment develop skills to increase personal awareness, assertive communication, self-efficacy, boundaries, de-escalation and negotiation, and physical self-defense (Population Council 2014, Sarnquist 2014).

#### **Potential Outcomes:**

The relevant outcomes that education and life skills building may impact include:

- Increases in school attendance and success
- Reductions in child marriage
- Reductions in sexual assault
- Increases in sexual assault disclosure
- Reductions in physical and sexual dating violence victimization and perpetration
- Increases in awareness of and improved attitudes about date rape
- Reductions in aggressive and violent behaviors
- Reductions in substance use
- Reductions in bullying behaviors

#### **Evidence:**

CDC review of improved school attendance and implementation of school-based programs finds the evidence to be effective or promising, in supporting their use for reducing violence against children or enhancing other health outcomes.

- School enrollment and attendance initiatives have promising evidence of effectiveness.
  - **Material support**. An experimental evaluation of an intervention providing *Comprehensive School Support* to orphan girls demonstrated that those receiving fees, school supplies, uniforms, health and hygiene supplies, and in-school helpers found that school dropout was reduced by 82% and early marriage by 63% (Hallfors 2011).
  - **School-based early education.** Comprehensive programs such as the Child-Parent Center Education Program, which support early preschool enrollment beginning at age 3, with continued educational and parenting support up through age 9, show over a 30% reduction in arrest for perpetration of violence that persists through young adulthood (Reynolds 2011).
- Life skills violence prevention programs have evidence of being effective in reducing violence.
  - Life skills and health programs focused on a constellation of issues for youth (including bullying). The U.S. Task Force on Community Preventive Services found strong evidence that universal, school-based programs decrease rates of violence among children by a median of 15% across programs and grades ranging from pre-kindergarten to twelfth grade. In one cluster RCT, after three years, students participating in the *Positive Action* program showed a 36% reduction in violent behavior and a 41% reduction in bullying behaviors (Hahn 2007).
  - Dating violence and rape prevention programs. A cluster randomized trial of *Safe Dates*, a dating violence prevention program, led to 25% less psychological, 60% less physical, and 60% less sexual violence perpetration at one-month among participating youth aged 12 to 14; at four years there was a significant reduction in physical and sexual dating violence perpetration and victimization (Foshee 2005). Several studies of university students or athletes participating in programs to reduce sexual

violence showed significantly more disapproving attitudes toward date rape (Holcomb 2002, Salazar 2014). An evaluation of the *Real Consent* program, an interactive web-based intervention to reduce sexual violence perpetration for male college students, was associated with significant reductions in perpetration over the six months following the intervention. (Salazar 2014).

• Adolescent girls' empowerment. A prospective cohort study of the adaptation of the 'No Means No' *IMpower* program showed disclosure of sexual violence increased significantly among the intervention group by about 34% and annual sexual assault rates declined significantly by 38% (Population Council 2014, Sarnquist 2014).

## **Surveillance and Evaluation**



#### What:

Population-based national and international surveillance data and evaluation studies.

#### Why:

Data are used to inform planning and implementation of prevention programs and monitor their impact and progress.

#### How:

Violence Against Children Surveys (VACS) or Multiple Indicator Surveys (MICS) are considered some of the best ways to measure the problem, identify groups at risk, and monitor the progress of prevention strategies.

#### **Rationale:**

Population-based national and international surveillance data and evaluation studies are necessary to effectively understand the extent of the problem and plan, implement, and assess the impact of programs addressing violence against children. These data are particularly useful for monitoring progress called for in key UN treaties and WHO resolutions addressing violence against children (Krug 2002).<sup>1</sup> It is only through accurate measurement that problems caused by violence against children can be understood and appropriate interventions can be effectively identified, targeted, managed, and improved (Clancy 2005). Monitoring can provide policy-makers and public health officials with essential information on:

- The extent, nature, and consequences of violence in a country;
- Subgroups in need of tailored programs and policies;
- Public awareness of the problem; and
- Changes in violence following improvements in policies and programs, including:
  - Training in positive parenting and nonviolent discipline
  - Household economic strengthening
  - Reductions in violence following strengthened legislative protection
  - Increased service utilization among children who experience violence
  - Values and norms regarding violence against children
  - Education and life skills training to reduce vulnerability to violence.

<sup>1</sup> For example, World Health Assembly resolution WHA67.22 which calls upon the Director-General of WHO to develop a global plan of action addressing violence against women and children.

Evaluations, on the other hand, provide policy-makers and public health officials with critical information on whether or not the programs and policies designed to prevent or respond to violence against children are having their intended impact in reducing violence and/or improving health (Elliott 2004, Fixsen 2005).

- Many countries do not have adequate monitoring data. Currently surveillance systems for • violence against children are weak in most countries, especially in low- and middle-income countries where the prevalence of violence is the highest (Bott 2012, Dahlberg 2002). Because only a small proportion of acts of violence against children are reported to official sources such as health or police systems, self-reports ascertained via representative household surveys, such as national Violence Against Children Surveys (VACS) or Multiple Indicator Surveys (MICS) are considered the gold standard for measuring the magnitude of the problem, identifying vulnerable groups, and measuring progress (CDC 2014, UNICEF 2009, UNICEF 2012, Zimbabwe 2013). Such surveys provide foundational data that inform actions to strengthen the prevention of violence against children. For example, the VACS data have driven policy reforms that impact health, legal, educational, social services, and economic sectors. These reforms have led to the establishment of One-Stop Centers providing comprehensive post-rape care, child-friendly courts and police units, national codes of teacher conduct which prohibit use of corporal punishment, child protection policy reform, and increased investments in life skills programs. Such surveys should be implemented at regular intervals to ensure that progress is monitored and changes in trends of violence against children are measured.
- Evidence is limited for the effectiveness of programs and policies in low-and middle-income countries (LMICs). Most of the evidence on interventions that are effective in reducing violence against children and mitigating its consequences is derived from evaluations conducted in high income countries (Mercy 2015). There is a critical need in LMICs to evaluate adaptations of interventions proven effective in high-income countries, as well as to evaluate new innovations to reduce violence against children. Finally, it will be important to evaluate the combined and synergistic impact that can be achieved with implementation of multiple components of the THRIVES technical package.

### Conclusion

The UN has issued a call-to-action relevant for every nation: to eliminate violence against children. Essential to preventing violence against children is guidance to countries that want to use the best available evidence to address this problem. **THRIVES** provides this evidence.

**THRIVES** represents a select group of complementary strategies that represent critical components for preventing violence against children. These strategies cross health, social services, education, finance, and justice sectors. Each of the **THRIVES** strategy areas is underpinned by strong or promising evidence of success in high income countries, with growing evidence that these strategies work in LMICs. **THRIVES** is designed with the intent that monitoring and evaluation will play a key role in implementing and improving this technical package as lessons are learned. Key CDC global partners, including PEPFAR, UNICEF, and the WHO recognize many of the **THRIVES** strategies as being critical components of successful efforts to prevent violence against children.

### References

### **Overview of THRIVES**

- Anda, R. F., A. Butchart, V. J. Felitti, and D. W. Brown. 2010. "Building a framework for global surveillance of the public health implications of adverse childhood experiences." *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 39 (1): 93-8.
- Anderson, N., A. Cockcroft, and B. Shea. 2008. "Gender-based violence and HIV: Relevance for HIV prevention in hyperendemic countries of southern Africa." *AIDS* 22: S73-86.
- Baral, S., C. Beyrer, K. Muessig, T. Poteat, A. L. Wirtz, M. R. Decker, et al. 2012. "Burden of HIV among female sex workers in low-income and middle-income countries: A systematic review and meta-analysis." *Lancet Infectious Diseases* 12: 538-49.
- Benjet, C. 2010. "Childhood adversities of populations living in low-income countries: Prevalence, characteristics, and mental health consequences." *Current Opinion in Psychiatry* 2010 (4): 356-62.
- Bott, S., A. Guedes, M. Goodwin, and J. A. Mendoza. 2012. "Violence against women in Latin America and the Caribbean: A comparative analysis of population-based data from 12 countries." Washington, D.C.: Pan American Health Organization.
- CARE, Save the Children, and the Consultative Group on Early Childhood Care and Development. 2012. "The essential package: Holistically addressing the needs of young vulnerable children and their caregivers affected by HIV/AIDS."
- CDC. 2014. "Essentials for childhood: Steps to create safe, stable, nurturing relationships and environments." Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/pdf/essentials\_for\_childhood\_framework.pdf</u>
- Department of Agriculture, Department of Defense, Department of Health and Human Services, Department of Labor, Department of State, the U.S. Agency for International Development, and Peace Corps. 2014. "Government action plan on children in adversity, seventh annual report to Congress."
- Devries, K., C. Watts., M. Yoshihama, L. Kiss, L. B. Schraiber, N. Deyessa, et al. 2011. "Violence against women is strongly associated with suicide attempts: Evidence from the WHO multi-country study on women's health and domestic violence against women." Social Science & Medicine 13: 79-86.
- Dietz, P. M., A. M. Spitz, R. F. Anda, D. F. Williamson, P. M. McMahon, J. S. Santelli, et al. 1999. "Unintended pregnancy among adult women exposed to abuse or household dysfunction during their childhood." *JAMA* 282: 1359–64.
- Dube, S. R., R. F. Anda, V. J. Felitti, D. Chapman, D. F. Williamson, and W. H. Giles. 2001. "Childhood abuse, household dysfunction and the risk of attempted suicide throughout the life span: Findings from Adverse Childhood Experiences Study." JAMA 286: 3089–96.
- Fang, X., D. S. Brown, C. S. Florence, and J. A. Mercy. 2012. "The economic burden of child maltreatment in the United States and implications for prevention." *Child Abuse & Neglect* 36: 156-65.
- Felitti, V. J., R. F. Anda, D. Nordenberg, D. F. Williamson, A. M. Spitz, V. Edwards, et al. 1998. "Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults: The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) study." American Journal of Preventive Medicine 14: 245–58.
- Finkelhor, D., H. A. Turner, M. A. Shattuck, and S. L. Hamby. 2013. "Violence, crime, and abuse exposure in a national sample of children and youth: An update." *JAMA Pediatrics* 167: 614-21.
- Fisher, J., M. Cabral de Mello, V. Patel, A. Rahman, T. Tran, S. Holton, et al. 2012. "Prevalence and determinants of common perinatal mental disorders in women in low- and lower-middle-income countries: A systematic review." *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*\_90: 139G-149G.
- Fluke, J. D., P. S. Goldman, J. Shriberg, S. D. Hillis, K. Yun, S. Allison, et al. 2012. "Systems, strategies, and interventions for sustainable long-term care and protection of children with a history of living outside of family care." *Child Abuse & Neglect* 36 (10): 722-31.

- García-Moreno, C. and A. Riecher-Rössler (eds.). 2013. Key Issues in Mental Health, vol. 178: Violence against Women and Mental Health. Basel, Switzerland: Karger.
- Hillis, S. D., R. F. Anda, S. R. Dube, V. J. Felitti, P. A. Marchbanks, M. Macaluso, et al. 2010. "The protective effect of family strengths in childhood against adolescent pregnancy and its long-term psychosocial consequences." *Permanente Journal* 14 (3): 18-27.
- Hillis, S. D., R. F. Anda, S. R. Dube, V. J. Felitti, P. A. Marchbanks, and J. S. Marks. 2004. "The association between adverse childhood experiences and adolescent pregnancy, long-term psychosocial outcomes, and fetal death." *Pediatrics* 113 (2): 320–27.
- Hillis, S. D., R. F. Anda, V. J. Felitti, D. Nordenberg, and P. A. Marchbanks. 2000. "Adverse childhood experiences and sexually transmitted diseases in men and women: A retrospective study." *Pediatrics* 106 (1): E11.
- Jewkes, R. K., K. Dunkle, M. Nduna, and N. Shai. 2010. Intimate partner violence, relationship power inequity, and incidence of HIV infection in young women in South Africa: A cohort study." *Lancet* 376: 41-8.
- Kessler, R. C., K. A. McLaughlin, J. G. Green, M. J. Gruber, N. A. Sampson, A. M. Zaslavsky, et al. 2010. "Childhood adversities and adult psychopathology in the WHO World Mental Health Surveys." *British Journal of Psychiatry* 197: 378-85.
- Krug, E. G., L. I. Dahlberg, J. A. Mercy, A. B. Zwi, and R. Lozano (eds.). 2002. "World report on violence and health." Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Lansford, J. E. and K. Deater-Deckard. 2012. "Childrearing discipline and violence in developing countries." Child Development 83: 62-75.
- Leadership Council of the Sustainable Development Solutions Network. 2013. "An action agenda for sustainable development: Report for the UN Secretary-General." Geneva: United Nations.
- Liverpool Johns Moores University. 2013. Violence Prevention Evidence Base. <u>http://www.preventviolence.info/evidence\_base.aspx</u>.
- Lozano, R., M. Naghavi, K. Foreman, S. Lim, K. Shibuya, V. Aboyans, et al. 2012. "Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010." *Lancet* 380 (9859): 2095-128.
- Machtinger, E. L., J. E. Haberer, T. C. Wilson, and D. S. Weiss. 2012a. "Recent trauma is associated with antiretroviral failure and HIV transmission risk behavior among HIV-positive women and female-identified transgenders." *AIDS & Behavior* 16:2160-70.
- Machtinger, E. L., T. C. Wilson, J. E. Haberer, and D. S. Weiss. 2012b. "Psychological trauma and PTSD in HIV-positive women: A meta-analysis." *AIDS & Behavior* 16:2091-100.
- Mbagaya, C., P. Oburu, and M. J. Bakermans-Kranenburg. 2013. "Child physical abuse and neglect in Kenya, Zambia and the Netherlands: A cross-cultural comparison of prevalence, psychopathological sequelae and mediation by PTSS." *International Journal of Psychology* 48: 95-107.
- Mercy, J. A., S. Hillis, A. Butchart, M. A. Bellis, C. Ward, X. Fang, et al. "Interpersonal violence: Global burden and paths to prevention." *Disease Control Priorities in Developing Countries*, 3rd Edition, D. Jamison, H. Gelband, S. Horton, P. Jha, R. Laxminarayan, and R. Nugent (eds.), in press, 2015.
- Mercy, J. A., J. Saul, and S. Hillis. "The importance of integrating efforts to prevent violence against woman and children." *Research Watch*, UNICEF 2013.
- Norton, R. and O. Kobusingye. 2013. "Injuries." New England Journal of Medicine 368: 1723-30.
- Patel, M. D., R. M. Taylor, Institute of Medicine (IOM), and the National Research Council (NRC). 2012. Social and Economic Costs of Violence. Washington, D.C.: The National Academies Press.
- Reza, A., M. J. Breiding, G. Gulaid, J. A. Mercy, C. Blanton, Z. Mthethwa, et al. 2009. "Sexual violence and its health consequences for female children in Swaziland: A cluster survey study." *Lancet* 373: 1966-72.

- Rosenberg, M. L., A. Butchart, J. Mercy, V. Narasimhan, H. Waters, and M. S. Marshall. 2006. "Interpersonal violence." *Disease Control Priorities in Developing Countries*, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, D. T. Jamison, J. G. Breman, A. R. Measham, R. G. Alleyne, M. Claeson, D. B. Evans, J. Prabhat, A. Mills, and P. Musgrove P. (eds.), 755-70. Washington, D.C.: Oxford University Press and The World Bank.
- Silverman, J. G., R. Michele, M. R. Decker, L. Heather, M. S. McCauley, P. Katelyn, et al. 2009. "A regional assessment of sex trafficking and STI/HIV in Southeast Asia: Connections between sexual exploitation, violence and sexual risk." Colombo, Sri Lanka: UNDP Regional Center in Colombo. <u>http://www.undp.org/content/dam/undp/library/hivaids/</u> English/SexTrafficking.pdf
- Stoltenborgh, M. A. 2011. "Global perspective on child sexual abuse: Meta-analysis of prevalence around the world." *Child Maltreatment* 16: 79-101.
- Stoltenborgh, M. A., M. J. Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. H. van Ljzendoorn, and L. R. Alink. 2013. "Cultural-geographical differences in the occurrence of child physical abuse? A meta-analysis of global prevalence." *International Journal of Psychology* 48: 81-94.
- Tharp, A. T., S. Degue, L. A. Valle, K. A. Brookmeyer, G. M. Massetti, and J. L. Matjasko. 2012. "A systematic qualitative review of risk and protective factors for sexual violence perpetration." *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse* 14 (2): 133-67.
- UNICEF. 2010. "Child disciplinary practices at home: Evidence from a range of low- and middle-income countries." New York: United Nations Children's Fund, Division of Policy and Practice.
- UNICEF. 2014. "Ending Violence against Children: Six Strategies for Action." New York: United Nations Children's Fund, Programme Division.
- Williamson, D. F., T. J. Thompson, R. F. Anda, W. H. Dietz, and V. J. Felitti. 2002. "Body weight, obesity, and self-reported abuse in childhood." *International Journal of Obesity* 26: 1075–82.
- WHO. 2014. "WHO global status report on violence prevention 2014." Geneva: World Health Organization.
- WHO. 2008. "Preventing violence and reducing its impact: How development agencies can help." Geneva: World Health Organization.

### **Training for Parents**

- Beets, M. W., B. R. Flay, S. Vuchinich, F. J. Snyder, A. Acock, K. K. Li, et al. 2009. "Use of a social and character development program to prevent substance use, violent behaviors, and sexual activity among elementary-school students in Hawaii." *American Journal of Public Health* 99 (8): 1438–45.
- Bilukha, O., R. A. Hahn, A. Crosby, M. T. Fullilove, A. Liberman, E. Moscicki, et al. 2005. "The effectiveness of early childhood home visitation in preventing violence: A systematic review." *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 28: 11-39.
- Caldera, D., L. Burrell, K. Rodriguez, S. S. Crowne, C. Rohde, and A. Duggan. 2007. "Impact of a statewide home visiting program on parenting and on child health and development." *Child Abuse & Neglect* 31 (8): 829–52.
- Duggan, A., E. McFarlane, L. Fuddy, L. Burrell, S. M. Higman, A. Windham, et al. 2004. "Randomized trial of a statewide home visiting program: Impact in preventing child abuse and neglect." *Child Abuse & Neglect 28* (6): 597–622.
- DuMont, K., S. Mitchell-Herzfeld, R. Greene, E. Lee, A. Lowenfels, M. Rodriguez, et al. 2008. "Healthy Families New York (HFNY) randomized trial: Effects on early child abuse and neglect." *Child Abuse & Neglect 32*(3): 295–315.
- Eckenrode, J., B. Ganzel, C. R. Henderson Jr, E. Smith, D. L. Olds, J. Powers, et al. 2000. "Preventing child abuse and neglect with a program of nurse home visitation: The limiting effects of domestic violence." *JAMA* 284: 1385-91.
- Fergusson, D. M., H. Grant, L. J. Horwood, and E. M. Ridder. 2006. "Randomized trial of the early start program of home visitation: Parent and family outcomes." *Pediatrics* 117 (3): 781-86. doi:10.1542/peds.2005-1517
- Foshee, V. A., H. L. McNaughton Reyes, S. T. Ennett, J. D. Cance, K. E. Bauman, and J. M. Bowling. 2012. "Assessing the effects of Families for Safe Dates, a family-based teen dating abuse prevention program." *Journal of Adolescent Health* 51 (4):349-56. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2011.12.029.

- Kaminski, J. W., L. A. Valle, J. H. Filene, and C. L. Boyle. 2008. "A meta-analytic review of components associated with parent training program effectiveness." *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology* 36: 567–89.
- Kärnä, A., M. Voeten, T. D. Little, E. Poskiparta, A. Kaljonen, and C. Salmivalli. 2011. "A large-scale evaluation of the KiVa antibullying program: Grades 4-6." *Child Development* 82 (1): 311–30.
- Knerr, W., F. Gardner, and L. Cluver. 2013. "Improving positive parenting skills and reducing harsh and abusive parenting in low and middle income countries: A systematic review." *Prevention Science* 14: 352-63.
- Knox, M. and K. Burkhart. 2014. "A multi-site study of the ACT Raising Safe Kids program: Predictors of outcomes and attrition." *Children & Youth Services Review* 39:20–4.
- Lowell, D. I., A. S. Carter, L. Godoy, B. Paulicin, and M. J. Briggs-Gowan. 2011. "A randomized controlled trial of Child FIRST: A comprehensive home-based intervention translating research into early childhood practice." *Child Development 82* (1): 193-208.
- Mikton, C. and A. Butchart. 2009. "Child maltreatment prevention: A systematic review of reviews." *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 87 (5): 353–61.
- Olds, D. L., J. Eckenrode, C. R. Henderson, H. Kitzman, J. Powers, R. Cole, et al. 1997. "Long-term effects of home visitation on maternal life course and child abuse and neglect: Fifteen-year follow-up of a randomized trial." *JAMA 278* (8): 637–43.
- Olds, D. L., H. L. Kitzman, R. E. Cole, C. A. Hanks, K. J. Arcoleo, E. A. Anson, et al. 2010. "Enduring effects of prenatal and infancy home visiting by nurses on maternal life course and government spending: Follow-up of a randomized trial among children at age 12 years." Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine 164 (5), 419-24.
- Rotheram-Borus, M.J., le Roux, I.M., Tomlinson, M., Mbewu, N., Comulada, W.S., le Roux, K., Stewart, J., O'Connor, M.J., Hartley, M., Desmond, K., Greco, E., Worthman, C.M., Idemundia, F., Swendeman, D., 2011. "Philani Plus (+): A Mentor Mother Community Health Worker Home Visiting Program to Improve Maternal and Infants' Outcomes." *Prevention science : the official journal of the Society for Prevention Research* 12.4: 372–88.
- Rotheram-Borus MJ, Tomlinson M, le Roux IM, Harwood JM, Comulada S, et al., 2014. "A Cluster Randomised Controlled Effectiveness Trial Evaluating Perinatal Home Visiting among South African Mothers/Infants." *PLoS ONE* 9(10): e105934. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0105934.
- Salmivalli, C. and E. Poskiparta. 2012. "KiVa anti-bullying program: Overview of evaluation studies based on a randomized controlled trial and national rollout in Finland." *International Journal of Conflict & Violence* 6 (2): 294–301.
- Vandenhoudt, H., K. S. Miller, J. Ochura, S. C. Wyckoff, C. O. Obong'o, N. J. Otwoma, et al. 2010. "Evaluation of a U.S. evidence-based parenting intervention in rural western Kenya: From Parents Matter! to Families Matter!" *AIDS Education & Prevention* 22 (4): 328-43.
- Washburn, I., A. Acock, S. Vuchinich, F. Snyder, K. Li, P. Ji, et al. 2011. "Effects of a social-emotional and character development program on the trajectory of behaviors associated with social-emotional and character development: Findings from three randomized trials." *Prevention Science* 12 (3): 314–23.

### **Household Economic Strengthening**

- Akwara, P. A., B. Noubary, P. Lim Ah Ken, K. Johnson, R. Yates, W. Winfrey, et al. 2010. "Who is the vulnerable child? Using survey data to identify children at risk in the era of HIV and AIDS." *AIDS Care* 22 (9): 1066-85.
- Anthony, E. K., B. King, and M. J. Austin. 2011. "Reducing child poverty by promoting child well-being: Identifying best practices in a time of great need". *Children & Youth Services Review* (33)10:1999-2009. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2011.05.029</u>.
- Campbell, P., S. Handa, M. Moroni, S. Odongo, and T. Palermo. 2010. "Assessing the 'orphan effect' in determining development outcomes for children in 11 eastern and southern African countries". *Vulnerable Children & Youth Studies* 5 (1): 12-32.
- Cancian, M., M. Yang, and K. S. Slack. 2013. "The effect of additional child support income on the risk of child maltreatment." *Social Service Review* 87 (3): 417-37.

- Child Protection in Crisis Network's Livelihoods and Economic Strengthening Task Force. 2011. "The impacts of economic strengthening programs on children." New York: Colombia University and Women's Refugee Commission.
- Eldred, C. and M. Zaslow. 1998. "Parenting behavior in a sample of young mothers in poverty: Results of the New Chance observational study." New York: Manpower Development Research Corporation.
- Gupta J., K. L. Falb, H. Lehmann, D. Kpebo, Z. Xuan, M. Hossain, et al. 2013. "Gender norms and economic empowerment intervention to reduce intimate partner violence against women in rural Cote d'Ivoire: A randomized controlled pilot study." *BMC International Health and Human Rights* 13 (1): 46.
- Huston, A. C., C. Miller, L. Richburg-Hayes, G. J. Duncan, C. A. Eldred, T. S. Weisner, et al. 2003. "New hope for families and children: Five year results of a program to reduce poverty and reform welfare." New York: Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation.
- Jan, J., G. Ferrari, C. H. Watts, J. R. Hargreaves, J. C. Kim, G. Phetla, et al. 2011. "Economic evaluation of a combined microfinance and gender training intervention for the prevention of intimate partner violence in rural South Africa." *Health Policy and Planning* 26: 366-72.
- Ozer E.J., Fernald, L.C.H., Manley J.G., Gertler, P.J. 2009. "Effects of a Conditional Cash Transfer Program on Children's Behavior Problems." Pediatrics 123:e630-7.
- Pronyk, P. M., J. R. Hargreaves, J. C. Kim, L. A. Morison, G. Phetla, C. Watts, et al. 2006. "Effect of a structural intervention for the prevention of intimate-partner violence and HIV in rural South Africa: A cluster randomised trial." *Lancet* 368 (9551): 1973–83.
- Pronyk, P. M., J. R. Hargreaves, and J. Morduch. 2007. "Microfinance programs and better heath: Prospects for sub-Saharan Africa." JAMA 298 (16): 1925-27.
- Sampson, R. J. and J. L. Lauritsen. 1994. "Violent victimization and offending: Individual-, situational-, and communitylevel risk factors." Understanding and Preventing Violence, Volume 3: Social Influences, A. J. Reiss Jr, and J. A. Roth (eds.). Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.
- The U.S. President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief. "Guidance for Orphans and Vulnerable Children Programming." July 2012.
- Vyas, S. and C. Watts. 2009. "How does economic empowerment affect women's risk of intimate partner violence in low and middle income countries? A systematic review of published evidence." *Journal of International Development* 21: 577-602.

### **Reduced Violence through Legal Protections**

Bellis, M. A. and K. Hughes. 2008. "Comprehensive strategies to prevent alcohol-related violence." IPC Review 2: 137-68.

- Bussmann, K., C. Erthal, and A. Schroth. 2011. "Effects of banning corporal punishment in Europe: A five-nation comparison." *Global Pathways to Abolishing Physical Punishment*, J. E. Durrant, A. B. Smith, (eds.), 299-322. New York: Routledge.
- Cohen, A. B. 2007. "Sobering up: The impact of the 1985–1988 Russian anti-alcohol campaign on child health." Boston, MA: Tufts University.
- Dinh-Zarr, T. B., C. Heitman, E. Roberts, and C. DiGuiseppi. 2004. "Interventions for preventing injuries in problem drinkers (review)." *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 3, CD001857.
- Duailibi, S., W. Ponicki, J. Grube, I. Pinsky, R. Laranjeira, and M. Raw. 2007. "The effect of restricting opening hours on alcohol-related violence." *American Journal of Public Health* 97: 2276–80.
- Grossman, M. and S. Markowitz. 2001. "Alcohol regulation and violence on college campuses." *Economic Analysis of Substance Use and Abuse: The Experience of Developed Countries and Lessons for Developing Countries,* M. Grossman and C.R. Hsieh (eds.). Cheltenham, United Kingdom: Edward Elgar.
- Lansford, J. E. and K. Deater-Deckard. 2012. "Childrearing discipline and violence in developing countries." Child Development 83: 62-75.

- Öberg, M., M. S. Jaakkola, A. Woodward, A. Peruga, and A. Pruss-Ustun. 2011. "Worldwide burden of disease from exposure to second-hand smoke: A retrospective analysis of data from 192 countries." *The Lancet* 9760 (377): 139-46.
- Osterman, K., K. Bjorkqvist, and K. Wahlbeck. 2014. "Twenty eight years after the complete ban on physical punishment of children in Finland: Trends and pyschosocial concomitants." *Aggressive Behavior* 9999: 1-14.
- Pinheiro, P. S. 2006. "World report on violence against children." Geneva: United Nations.
- Roberts, J. V. 2000. "Changing public attitudes towards corporal punishment: The effects of statutory reform in Sweden." *Child Abuse & Neglect* 24 (8): 1027-35.
- Sariola, H. 2012. Attitudes to disciplinary violence. Finland: Central Union for Child Welfare.
- Stier, D. D., J. A. Mercy, and M. Kohn. 2007. "Injury prevention." *Law in Public Health Practice*, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, R. A. Goodman, R. E. Hoffman, W. Lopez, G. W. Matthews, M. A. Rothstein, and K. L. Foster (eds.), 506-27. New York: Oxford.
- Task Force on Community Preventive Services. 2010. "Recommendations on maintaining limits on days and hours of sale of alcoholic beverages to prevent excessive alcohol consumption and related harms." *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 39:605-6.
- Turquet, L., P. Seck, G. Azcona, R. Menon, C. Boyce, N. Pierron, et al. 2011. "Progress of the world's women: In pursuit of justice, 2011-2012". New York: UN Women.
- UNICEF. 2010. "Child disciplinary practices at home: Evidence from a range of low- and middle-income countries." New York: United Nations Children's Fund, Division of Policy and Practice.
- WHO. 2014. "WHO global status report on violence prevention 2014." Geneva: World Health Organization.

#### **Improved Services for Survivors and Perpetrators**

- Bair-Merritt, Megan H et al. "Reducing Maternal Intimate Partner Violence After the Birth of a Child: A Randomized Controlled Trial of the Hawaii Healthy Start Home Visitation Program." *Archives of pediatrics & adolescent medicine* 164.1 (2010): 16–23. *PMC*. Web. 9 Feb. 2015.
- Bass, J. K., J. Annan, S. McIvor Murray, D. Kaysen, S. Griffiths, T. Cetinoglu, et al. 2013. "Controlled trial of psychotherapy for Congolese survivors of sexual violence." *New England Journal of Medicine* 368 (23): 2182-91.
- Chanley, S. A., J. J. Chanley, and H. E. Campbell. 2001. "Providing refuge: The value of domestic violence shelter services." American Review of Public Administration 31: 393–413.
- Duggan A, McFarlane E, Fuddy L, Burrell L, Higman SM, Windham A, Sia C. 2004. "Randomized trial of a statewide home visiting program: impact in preventing child abuse and neglect." *Child Abuse & Neglect* 28(6):597-622.
- Kiely, M., El-Mohandes, A.A., El-Khorazaty, M.N., Blake, S.M., Gantz, M.G., 2010. "An integrated intervention to reduce intimate partner violence in pregnancy: a randomized, controlled trial." *Obstetrics & Gynecology* 115:273-83.
- Kornør, H., D. Winje, Ø. Ekeberg, L. Weisæth, I. Kirkehei, K. Johansen, et al. 2008. "Early trauma-focused cognitivebehavioural therapy to prevent chronic post-traumatic stress disorder and related symptoms: A systematic review and meta-analysis." *BMC Psychiatry* 8: 81.
- Murray, L. K., Familiar, I., Skavenski, S., Jere, E., Cohen, J., Imasiku, M., Mayeya, J., Bass, J.K., Bolton, P., 2013. An Evaluation of Trauma Focused Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for Children in Zambia. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *37*(12): 10.1016/j. chiabu.2013.04.017. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.04.017.
- Moyer, V. A. and U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. 2013. "Screening for intimate partner violence and abuse of elderly and vulnerable adults: U.S. preventive services task force recommendation statement." *Annals of Internal Medicine* 158 (6):478-86.
- Ramsay, J., J. Richardson, Y. H. Carter, L. L. Davidson, and G. Feder. 2002. "Should health professionals screen women for domestic violence? Systematic review." *British Medical Journal* 325: 314.
- Sullivan, C. M. 2012. "Advocacy services for women with abusive partners: A review of the empirical evidence." Harrisburg, PA: National Resource Center on Domestic Violence.

- Sullivan, C. M. 2012. "Domestic violence shelter services: A review of the empirical evidence." Harrisburg, PA: National Resource Center on Domestic Violence.
- Sullivan, C. M. 2012. "Support groups for women with abusive partners: A review of the empirical evidence." Harrisburg, PA: National Resource Center on Domestic Violence.
- Task Force on Community Preventive Services. 2008. "Recommendations to reduce psychological harm from traumatic events among children and adolescents." *American Journal of Preventative Medicine* 35 (3):314-6.
- Wethington, H. R., R. A. Hahn, D. S. Fuqua-Whitley, T. A. Sipe, A. E. Crosby, R. L. Johnson, et al. 2008. "The effectiveness of interventions to reduce psychological harm from traumatic events among children and adolescents: A systematic review." *American Journal of Preventative Medicine* 35(3):287-313.

### **Values and Norms Interventions**

- Banyard, V. L., M. M. Moynihan, and E. G. Plante. 2007. "Sexual violence prevention through bystander education: An experimental evaluation." *Journal of Community Psychology* 35, 463–81.
- Coker, A. L., B. S. Fisher, H. M. Bush, S. C. Swan, C. M. Williams, E. R. Clear, et al. 2014. "Evaluation of the Green Dot Bystander Intervention to reduce interpersonal violence among college students across three campuses." *Violence against Women*.
- Dworkin, S., A. Hatcher, C. Colvin, and D. Peacock. 2012. "Impact of a gender-transformative HIV and antiviolence program on gender ideologies and masculinities in two rural, South African communities." *Men & Masculinities* 16: 181-2.
- Jewkes, R., M. Nduna, J. Levin, N. Jama, K. Dunkle, A. Puren, et al. 2008. "Impact of Stepping Stones on incidence of HIV and HSV-2 and sexual behavior in rural South Africa: Cluster randomized controlled trial." *British Medical Journal* 10: 1-11.
- Mercy, J. A., S. Hillis, A. Butchart, M. A. Bellis, C. Ward, X. Fang, et al. "Interpersonal violence: Global impact and paths to prevention." *Disease Control Priorities in Developing Countries*, 3rd Edition, D. Jamison, H. Gelband, S. Horton, P. Jha, R. Laxminarayan, and R. Nugent (eds.), in press 2015.
- Miller, E., D. Tancredit, H. McCauley, M. Decker, M. Virata, H. Anderson, et al. 2012. "Coaching Boys into Men': A clusterrandomized controlled trial of a dating violence prevention program." *Journal of Adolescent Health* 51 (5): 431-8.
- Paine, K., G. Hart, M. Jawo, S. Ceesay, M. Jallow, L. Morison, et al. 2002. "Before we were sleeping, now we are awake: Preliminary evaluation of the Stepping Stones sexual health programme in The Gambia." *African Journal of AIDS Research* 1: 41–52.
- Promundo. 2012. "Engaging men to prevent gender-based violence: A multi-country intervention an impact evaluation study." Washington, D.C.: Instituto Promundo.
- Pulerwitz, J., S. Martin, M. Mehta, T. Castillo, A. Kidanu, F. Verani, et al. 2010. "Promoting gender equity for HIV and violence prevention: Results from the Male Norms Initiative evaluation in Ethiopia." Washington, D.C.: PATH.
- Raising Voices. 2013. Raising Voices: Preventing Violence against Women and Children. http://raisingvoices.org/about/
- Skevington, S., E. Sovetkina, and F. Gillison. 2013. "A systematic review to quantitatively evaluate 'Stepping Stones': A participatory community-based HIV/AIDS prevention intervention." *AIDS & Behavior 17*: 1025-39.
- Solorzano, I., A. Bank, R. Pena, H. Espinoza, M. Ellsberg, and J. Pulerwitz. 2008. "Catalyzing personal and social change around gender, sexuality and HIV: Impact evaluation of Puntos de Encuntro's communication strategy in Nicaragua". *Horizons Final Report*. Washington, D.C.: Population Council.
- UNICEF. 2010. "Child disciplinary practices at home: Evidence from a range of low- and middle-income countries." New York: United Nations Children's Fund, Division of Policy and Practice.
- Usdin, S., E. Scheepers, S. Goldstein, and G. Japhet. 2005. "Achieving social change on gender-based violence: A report on the impact evaluation of Soul City's fourth series." *Social Science & Medicine* 61: 2434-45.
- Verma, R., J. Pulerwitz, V. Mahendra, S. Khandekar, A. K. Singh, S. Das, et al. 2008. "Promoting gender equity as a strategy to reduce HIV risk and gender-based violence among young men in India." *Horizons Final Report*. Washington, D.C.: Population Council.

Watts, C., T. Abramsky, K. Devries, L. Kiss, J. Nakuti, N. Kyegombe, et al. 2014. "Findings from the SASA! Study: A cluster randomized controlled trial to assess the impact of a community mobilization intervention to prevent violence against women and reduce HIV risk in Kampala, Uganda." *BMC Medicine* 12: 122.

### **Education and Life Skills Building**

Blueprints for Healthy Youth Development. www.blueprintsprograms.com

- Durlak, J. A., R. P. Weissberg, and M. Pachan. 2010. "A meta-analysis of after-school programs that seek to promote personal and social skills in children and adolescents." *American Journal of Community Psychology* 45 (3-4): 294-309.
- Fellmeth, G. L. T., C. Heffernan, J. Nurse, S. Habibula, and D. Sethi. 2013. "Educational and skills-based interventions for preventing relationship and dating violence in adolescents and young adults." *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* (6). DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004534.pub3.
- Foshee, V. A., K. E. Bauman, S. T. Ennett, C. Suchindran, T. Benefield, and G. F. Linder. 2005. "Assessing the effects of the dating violence prevention program 'Safe Dates' using random coefficient regression modeling." *Prevention Science* 6: 245–57.
- Hahn, R. A., D. Fuqua-Whitley, H. Wethington, J. Lowy, A. Crosby, M. Fullilove, et al. 2007. "Effectiveness of universal schoolbased programs to prevent violent and aggressive behavior: A systematic review." *American Journal of Preventative Medicine* 33 (2S): S114–29.
- Hallfors, D., H. Cho, S. Rusakaniko, B. Iritani, J. Mapfumo, and C. Halpern. 2011. "Supporting adolescent orphan girls to stay in school as HIV risk prevention: Evidence from a randomized controlled trial in Zimbabwe." *American Journal of Public Health* 101: 1082–88. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2010.300042.
- Holcomb, D. R., Savage, M. P., Seehafer, R., Waalkes, D. M., 2001. "A Mixed-Gender Date Rape Prevention Intervention Targeting Freshmen College Athletes." *College Student Journal* 36(2).
- Pinzone-Glover H.A., Gidycz C.A., Jacobs, C.D. 1998. "AN ACQUAINTANCE RAPE PREVENTION PROGRAM: Effects on Attitudes Toward Women, Rape-Related Attitudes, and Perceptions of Rape Scenarios." Psychology of Women Quarterly 22:605-21. Population Council. Adolescent Girls' Empowerment Program. Zambia. 2014. http://www. popcouncil.org/research/adolescent-girls-empowerment-program
- Reynolds, A. J., J. A. Temple, S. Ou, I. A. Arteaga, and B. White. 2011. "School-based early childhood education and wellbeing: Effects by timing, dosage, and subgroups." *Science* 333: 360-364.
- Salazar LF; Vivolo-Kantor A; Hardin J; Berkowitz A . 2014. A web-based sexual violence bystander intervention for male college students: randomized controlled trial.. Journal of Medical Internet Research. 16(9):e203, 2014.
- Sarnquist, C., B. Omondi, J. Sinclair, C. Gitau, L. Paiva, M. Mulinge, et al. 2014. "Rape prevention through empowerment of adolescent girls." *Pediatrics* 133(5): e1226-32. doi: 10.1542/peds.2013-3414
- Wolfe, D. A., C. Crooks, P. Jaffe, D. Chiodo, R. Hughes, W. Ellis, et al. 2009. "A school-based program to prevent adolescent dating violence: A cluster randomized trial." *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine* 163 (8): 692–99.
- Yom Y, Eun LK., 2005. Effects of a CD-ROMeducational program on sexual knowledge and attitude. *Computers, Informatics, Nursing* 23:214–9.

### **Surveillance and Evaluation**

- Bott, S., A. Guedes, M. Goodwin, and J. A. Mendoza. 2012. "Violence against women in Latin America and the Caribbean: A comparative analysis of population-based data from 12 countries." Washington, D.C.: Pan American Health Organization.
- CDC, Interuniversity Institute for Research and Development (INURED), and the Comité de Coordination. 2014. "Violence against children in Haiti: Findings from a national survey, 2012." Port-au-Prince, Haiti: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

- Clancy, C. M. and K. Cronin. 2005. "Evidence-based decision making: Global evidence, local decisions." *Health Affairs*, 24 (1): 151-62.
- Dahlberg, L. L. and E. G. Krug. 2002. "Violence: A global public health problem." *World Report on Violence and Health*, E. G. Krug, L. L. Dahlberg, J. A. Mercy, A. B. Zwi, and R. Lozano (eds.) 1–21. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Elliott, D. S. and S. Mihalic. 2004. "Issues in disseminating and replicating effective prevention programs." *Prevention Science* 5(1): 47-53.
- Fixsen, D. L., S. F. Naoom, K. A. Blase, R. M. Friedman, and F. Wallace. 2005. Implementation Research: A Synthesis of the Literature. Tampa, FL: University of South Florida, Louis de la Parte Florida Mental Health Institute, The National Implementation Research Network (FMHI Publication #231).
- Krug, E. G., L. I. Dahlberg, J. A. Mercy, A. B. Zwi, and R. Lozano (eds.). 2002. *World Report on Violence and Health*. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Mercy, J. A., S. Hillis, A. Butchart, M. A. Bellis, C. Ward, X. Fang, et al. "Interpersonal violence: Global impact and paths to prevention." *Disease Control Priorities in Developing Countries*, 3rd Edition, D. Jamison, H. Gelband, S. Horton, P. Jha, R. Laxminarayan, and R. Nugent (eds.), in press, 2015.
- UNICEF, CDC, and Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (KNBS). 2012. "Violence against Children in Kenya: Findings from a national survey, 2010." Nairobi, Kenya: UNICEF Kenya.
- UNICEF, CDC, and the Muhimbili University of Health and Allied Science. 2011. "Violence against children in Tanzania: Findings from a national survey 2009." Dar es Salaam, Tanzania: UNICEF Tanzania.
- Zimbabwe National Statistics Agency (ZIMSTAT), UNICEF, and the Collaborating Centre for Operational Research and Evaluation (CCORE). 2013. "National Baseline Survey on life experiences of adolescents in Zimbabwe, 2011." Harare, Zimbabwe: ZIMSTAT.

### Appendix

### **THRIVES: Examples of Interventions to Reduce Violence Against Children**

| Component  | Sector          | Interventions: Programs and Policies                              | Evidence |      |
|--|-----------------|---|----------|------|
|  |                 | 1   | HIC      | LMIC |
| Training for<br>Parents  | Social Services | HOME VISITATION:  |          |      |
|  | Education       | Nurse Family Partnership  | x        |      |
|  |                 | Philani Plus  |          | Х    |
|  |                 | COMPREHENSIVE PROGRAMS:   |          |      |
|  |                 | Positive Action   | x        |      |
|  |                 | • KiVa  |          |      |
|  |                 | Families for Safe Dates   | x        |      |
|  |                 | PARENTING SMALL GROUP PROGRAMS:                                   |          |      |
|  |                 | ACT Raising Safe Kids   | x        | х    |
|  |                 | Families Matter   | x        | х    |
| Household<br>Economic<br>Strengthening                                     | Labor           | MICROFINANCE:   |          |      |
|  |                 | -IMAGES (Intervention with Microfinance for AIDS & Gender Equity) |          | Х    |
|  |                 | GROUP SAVINGS AND LOANS ASSOCIATIONS:                             |          |      |
|  |                 | -Village Savings and Loan Associations (VSLA) and Gender Dialogue |          | х    |
|  |                 | CASH TRANSFERS  | x        | х    |
| Reduced Violence<br>through Legal<br>Protections                           | Justice         | -Banning violent punishment by caregivers, teachers               | X        |      |
|  |                 | -Regulation of hours/ location/ price of alcohol                  |          |      |
|  |                 | -Prohibiting sexual abuse of children                             | x        | Х    |
| Improved Access<br>to Services<br>for Children<br>Experiencing<br>Violence | Health          | COUNSELING:   |          |      |
|  |                 | -Trauma-Focused Cognitive Behavior Therapy                        | x        | х    |
|  |                 | SCREENING:  |          |      |
|  |                 | -Screening for IPV with brief intervention                        | x        |      |
|  |                 | -Community Action Project   | x        |      |

HIC = high-income country; LMIC = low- and middle-income country

VACS =violence against children surveys; MICS = Multiple Indicator Surveys; NatSCEV = National Survey of Children's Exposure to Violence

| Component                             | Sector    | Interventions: Programs and Policies                  | Evidence |      |
|---------------------------------------|-----------|---|----------|------|
|                                       |           |   | ніс      | LMIC |
| Values and Norms<br>Changes           | Health    | SMALL GROUP PROGRAMS:                                 |          |      |
|                                       | Education | -Yaari Dosti, Coaching Boys into Men, Stepping Stones | X        | Х    |
|                                       |           | BYSTANDER INTERVENTIONS:                              |          |      |
|                                       |           | -Bringing in the Bystander                            | X        |      |
|                                       |           | -Green Dot  | X        |      |
|                                       |           | COMMUNITY MOBILIZATION:                               |          |      |
|                                       |           | -SASA!  |          | Х    |
|                                       |           | CAMPAIGNS   |          |      |
|                                       |           |   |          |      |
| Education and<br>Life Skills Building | Education | MATERIAL SUPPORT:                                     |          | Х    |
|                                       |           | -Comprehensive School Support                         |          | Х    |
|                                       |           | LIFE SKILLS VIOLENCE PREVENTION PROGRAMS:             | X        |      |
|                                       |           | -Positive Action                                      | X        |      |
|                                       |           | -Safe Dates   |          |      |
|                                       |           | -IMpower  | X        |      |
|                                       |           |   |          |      |
|                                       |           |   |          |      |
| Surveillance and<br>Evaluation        | Health    | VACS, MICS, NatSCEV                                   | X        | X    |
|                                       | Justice   |   |          |      |
|                                       | Education |   |          |      |
|                                       |           |   |          |      |
|                                       |           |   |          |      |

HIC = high-income country; LMIC = low- and middle-income country

VACS =violence against children surveys; MICS = Multiple Indicator Surveys; NatSCEV = National Survey of Children's Exposure to Violence